#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, F/K/A THE BANK OF NEW YORK, AS TRUSTEE, FOR THE CERTIFICATEHOLDERS OF CWABS, INC. ASSET-BACKED CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2006-25,

Appellant,

VS.

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC,

Respondent.

Supreme Court No. 81604

Electronically Filed
District Court Caya N 20 20 1 03:24 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Respectfully Submitted by:

ZBS LAW, LLP

Shadd A. Wade, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 11310

J. Stephen Dolembo, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 9795

9435 West Russell Road, Suite 120

Las Vegas, Nevada 89148

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- Whether the District Court erred when it ruled that that BNYM made the loan
  "wholly due" as contemplated by NRS 106.240 byrecording a Notice of
  Default and Election to Sell Under Deed of Trust on April 29, 2008.
- 2. Whether the District Court erred when it ruled that a 2008 loan modification failed to cure any default with the Borrower's loan and did not reinstate the loan as an installment loan.

#### **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

This Court has jurisdiction over this matter, as it is an appeal from a final judgment, whereby the district court entered summary judgment in favor of Appellee SFR Investments Pool 1 LLC. ("SFR") on July 22, 2020. NRS 2.090; NRAP 3A(b)(1). (*See*, Notice of Entry of Order, Appendix Vol. II, p. 405).

### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

Pursuant to NRAP 28(a)(5), this matter is presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court because the issues presented herein raise "as a principal issue a question of first impression involving the United States or Nevada constitution or common law." NRAP 17(a)(13). The principal issue here is whether a loan was made "wholly due" as contemplated by NRS 106.240 by virtue of a lender's recordation of a Notice of Default/Election to Sell Under Deed of Trust.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The underlying District Court action involved a claim for cancellation of instrument concerning a first position deed of trust encumbering real property located at 4946 Droubay Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada 89122 [APN: 161-26-111-133] (the "Property") following a homeowners association's lien foreclosure sale (the "lien sale") conducted on September 19, 2012. (*See*, Complaint, Appendix Vol. I, p.79). Non-party Alessi & Koenig, LLC ("A&K") conducted the lien sale on behalf of Squire Village Homeowners Association ("HOA" or "Squire Village"). (*See*, Federal Court Complaint, Appendix Vol. 1, p. 2).

On April 4, 2018, The Bank of New York Mellon f/k/a The Bank of New York, as Trustee for the Certificateholders of CWABS, Inc., Asset-Backed Certificates, Series 2006-25 ("BNYM" or "Appellant") filed a complaint for quiet title/declaratory relief in the United States District Court, District of Nevada (Case No. 2:18-cv-00599-APG-CWH). (*See*, Federal Court Complaint, Appendix Vol. I, p. 1). In the complaint, BNYM asserted that its deed of trust was not extinguished by way of the HOA's September 19, 2012 lien sale due to a pre-sale tender of the superpriority lien amount. *Id.* at p. 3.

On June 11, 2018, SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC ("SFR" or "Appellant") filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to FRCP 12(b)(6) and FRCP 12(b)(7). (See, Motion to Dismiss, Appendix Vol. I, p. 58). In the motion, SFR argued that BNYM's

complaint was time-barred under the four-year catchall statute of limitation found in NRS 11.220. *Id.* at p. 2. Ultimately, the district court agreed and dismissed BNYM's complaint as time-barred, as it was filed more than four years after the HOA's lien sale. (*See*, Order, Appendix Vol. I, p. 76). Importantly, the district court's order contained no declaration as to the effect of the HOA's lien sale on BNYM's deed of trust. *Id.* at p. 78.

Because the loan underlying BNYM's deed of trust remained in default, on January 15, 2019, Sables, LLC, as trustee for BNYM, recorded a Notice of Breach and Default and Election to Sell the Real Property Under Deed of Trust. (*See*, Complaint, Appendix Vol. I, p. 81). On February 27, 2019, SFR filed its complaint for cancellation of instrument under NRS 106.240 - Nevada's ancient mortgage statute that sets a 10-year time period in which a lien is presumed expired after the underlying loan's maturity date. *Id.* at p. 79.

On January 30, 2020, BNYM filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, contending that the debt underlying its deed of trust was not made "wholly due" as contemplated by NRS 106.240 simply by recording a Notice of Default and Election to Sell Under Deed of Trust, (the "Notice of Default"), as contended by SFR. (*See*, BNYM's Motion for Summary Judgment, Appendix Vol. I, p. 100). Rather, BNYM argued that the ten-year time period contemplated by NRS 106.240 is controlled by the maturity date of the loan, as stated in the loan documents. *Id.* at 100-101. In this

case, the maturity date of the loan, as set forth in the note and deed of trust was December 1, 2046. *Id*.

On March 23, 2020, SFR filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, arguing that the deed of trust was void under NRS 106.240, as more than ten years had passed since BNYM's predecessor-in-interest recorded a Notice of Default on April 29, 2008. (*See*, SFR's Motion for Summary Judgment, Appendix Vol. II, p. 208).

On July 22, 2020, the District Court entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Judgment (the "Judgment"). In the Judgment, the court below concluded that "[BNYM] and/or its predecessor made the loan wholly due by virtue of the Notice of Default recorded on April 29, 2008." (*See*, Order, Appendix Vol. II, p. 410). The District Court further found that an August 2008 loan modification agreement did not cure the loan's default status, nor did it reinstate the loan as an installment loan. *Id*.

The District Court erred in making these rulings, as the plain language of NRS 106.240 calls for discharge of the debt and lien "at the expiration of 10 years after the debt secured by the mortgage or deed of trust according to the terms thereof...become wholly due." NRS 106.240. As such, the undisputed record below clearly establishes that BNYM's the district court's judgment should be reversed.

///

///

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On or about November 17, 2006, Nelson and Susan Pritz (the "Borrowers") financed ownership of the Property by way of a loan in the amount of \$232,200.00 secured by a deed of trust (the "Deed of Trust") recorded on November 22, 2006. (See, Deed of Trust, Appendix Vol. I, p. 12). The Borrowers stopped paying on their loan and on April 29, 2008, BNYM's predecessor-in-interest, Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. ("Countrywide") recorded a Notice of Default in the Clark County Recorder's Office. (See, SFR's Motion for Summary Judgment, Appendix Vol. II, p. 208). On August 12, 2008, the Borrowers and Countrywide entered into a Loan Modification Agreement, curing any default and reinstating the loan. (See, Loan Modification Agreement, Appendix Vol. II, p. 293-294). The deed of trust was subsequently assigned to BNYM via an assignment of deed of trust recorded against the property on November 29, 2011. (See, Assignment of Deed of Trust, Appendix Vol. I, p. 195).

The HOA, through A&K, recorded a notice of delinquent assessment lien ("Notice of Lien") against the property on February 6, 2009. (See, Notice of Delinquent Assessment Lien, Appendix Vol. I, p. 198). On May 1, 2009, A&K, as agent for the HOA, recorded a Notice of Default and Election to Sell Under Homeowners Association Lien. (See, Notice of Default and Election to Sell Under

Homeowners Association Lien, Appendix Vol. I, p. 200). On December 18, 2009, A&K, as agent for the HOA, recorded a Notice of Trustee's Sale. (*See*, Notice of Trustee's Sale, Appendix Vol. I, p. 202).

On January 12, 2010, Miles, Bauer, Bergstrom & Winters, LLP ("MBBW"), counsel for Countrywide, issued correspondence to A&K, requesting a payoff ledger detailing the superpriority amount of the HOA's lien by providing a breakdown of nine months of HOA assessments. (*See*, Correspondence, Appendix Vol. I, p. 127). On February 11, 2010, A&K provided the payoff demand to MBBW, demonstrating that the HOA's monthly assessments were \$84.00 and there were no nuisance abatement or maintenance charges associated with the Borrowers' account. (*See*, Payoff Demand, Appendix Vol. I, p. 130-132).

On February 18, 2010, MBBW, on behalf of Countrywide, tendered a check to A&K in the amount of \$756.00 to satisfy the super-priority portion of the HOA's lien as well as for an estimation of reasonable collection costs. (*See*, MBBW Tender Correspondence, Appendix Vol. I, p. 134-136). A&K rejected the aforementioned tender and returned the \$756.00 check to Miles Bauer on or about March 22, 2010. (*See*, MBBW Prolaw Screenshot, Appendix Vol. I, p. 125).

On August 21, 2012, A&K, as agent for the HOA, recorded that certain Notice of Foreclosure Sale ("Notice of Sale") as Book and Instrument number 20120821-0001940 in the Official Records. (See, Notice of Sale, Appendix Vol. I, p. 204).

On September 19, 2012, A&K, on behalf of the HOA, conducted a lien foreclosure sale of the Property, where SFR was the highest bidder, purchasing the property for \$5,356.00. (See, Trustee's Deed Upon Sale, Appendix Vol. I, p. 206).

On September 17, 2013, BNYM's loan servicer, Specialized Loan Servicing LLC, sent the Borrowers correspondence indicating that their "[f]ailure to pay the total amount due under the terms and conditions of your Deed of Trust/Mortgage by 10/20/13 may result in acceleration of the entire balance outstanding under the note, including, but not limited to, the principal, interest and all other outstanding charges and costs, and commencement of foreclosure of the Trust Deed/Mortgage which is security for your Note. (*See*, Notice of Default and Notice of Intent to Foreclose, Appendix Vol. I, p. 160-161).

#### II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On April 4, 2018, BNYM filed a complaint for quiet title/declaratory relief in the United States District Court, District of Nevada (Case No. 2:18-cv-00599-APG-CWH). (*See*, Federal Court Complaint, Appendix Vol. I, p. 1). In the complaint, BNYM asserted that its deed of trust was not extinguished by way of the HOA's September 19, 2012 lien sale due to a pre-sale tender of the superpriority lien amount. *Id.* at p. 3.

On June 11, 2018, SFR filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to FRCP 12(b)(6) and 12(b)(7). (See, Motion to Dismiss, Appendix Vol. I, p. 58). In the motion, SFR

argued that BNYM's complaint was time-barred under the four-year catchall statute of limitation found in NRS 11.220. Id. at p. 2. Ultimately, the district court agreed and dismissed BNYM's complaint as time-barred, as it was filed more than four years after the HOA's lien sale. (*See*, Order, Appendix Vol. I, p. 76). Importantly, the district court's order contained no declaration as to the effect of the HOA's lien sale on BNYM's deed of trust. *Id.* at p. 78.

Because the Borrowers' loan remained in default, BNYM commenced nonjudicial foreclosure proceedings on under the note and deed of trust on January 15, 2019. (*See*, Complaint, Appendix Vol. 1, p. 81). Shortly thereafter, on February 27, 2019, SFR filed suit in the Eighth Judicial District Court, seeking to cancel BNYM's 2008 and 2019 Notices of Default and deed of trust pursuant to NRS 106.240. Id. at p. 81-82. SFR also named BNYM's foreclosure trustee, Sables, LLC ("Sables") as a Defendant for recording the 2019 Notice of Default on behalf of BNYM. *Id.* at p. 83. On May 28, 2019, Sables filed a Declaration of Non-Monetary Status pursuant to NRS 107.029, which SFR did not object to. (*See*, BNYM's Motion for Summary Judgment, Appendix Vol. 1, p. 96). As a result, Sables was no longer required to participate in the litigation. NRS 107.029.

On January 30, 2020, BNYM filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, contending that the debt underlying its deed of trust was not made "wholly due" as contemplated by NRS 106.240 simply by recording a Notice of Default and Election

to Sell Under Deed of Trust, (the "Notice of Default"), as contended by SFR. (*See*, BNYM's Motion for Summary Judgment, Appendix Vol. I, p. 100). Rather, BNYM argued that the ten-year time period contemplated by NRS 106.240 is controlled by the maturity date of the loan, as stated in the loan documents. *Id.* at 100-101. In this case, the maturity date of the loan, as set forth in the note was December 1, 2046. *Id.* 

On March 23, 2020, SFR filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, arguing that the deed of trust was void under NRS 106.240, as more than ten years had passed since BNYM's predecessor-in-interest recorded a Notice of Default on April 29, 2008. (*See*, SFR's Motion for Summary Judgment, Appendix Vol. II, p. 208).

On July 22, 2020, the District Court entered its Judgment, concluding that "[BNYM] and/or its predecessor made the loan wholly due by virtue of the Notice of Default recorded on April 29, 2008." (See, Order, Appendix Vol. II, p. 410). The District Court further found that an August 2008 loan modification agreement did not cure the loan's default status, nor did it reinstate the loan as an installment loan. *Id.* Written notice of entry of the District Court's Judgment was filed on August 5, 2020. (See, Notice of Entry of Order, Appendix Vol. II, p. 405).

On August 6, 2020, BNYM appealed the judgment. (*See*, Notice of Appeal, Appendix Vol. II, p. 412).

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

This appeal involves an issue relating to the application of NRS 106.240 – specifically: (1) whether a deed of trust is conclusively presumed satisfied and a note discharged ten years after a lender records a Notice of Default and Election to Sell under a deed of trust, or (2) whether the maturity date as stated in the loan documents, including recorded extensions thereto, or a recorded acceleration of the maturity date provides the trigger date for purposes of a ten-year analysis under NRS 106.240.

BNYM notes that in this instance, no Notice of Rescission of the Notice of Default was recorded as this Court has recently discussed in *Kristal Glass v. Select Portfolio Servicing, Inc. et. al*, Nevada Supreme Court Case No. 78325, Order of Affirmance dated July 1, 2020, request for En Banc Reconsideration denied on November 6, 2020, and *Dean Johnston v. U.S. Bank, N.A., et. al*, Nevada Court of Appeals Case No. 78278-COA.

In summary, BNYM's arguments are as follows: <u>First</u>, the District Court erred in concluding that BNYM and/or its predecessor made the loan wholly due as contemplated by NRS 106.240 simply by recording a Notice of Default on April 29, 2018, thus ignoring the maturity date as stated in the loan documents.

Second, the District Court erred in concluding that no genuine issues of material fact existed with respect to whether the August 12, 2008, Loan Modification

Agreement between the Borrowers and Countrywide cured the loan's default and thus reinstated the loan.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

This Court reviews summary judgment orders *de novo. Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). Summary judgment is appropriate if the pleadings and other evidence on file, viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party, demonstrates that no genuine issue of material fact remains in dispute and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* Conclusory statements fail to create issues of fact. *Yeager v. Harrah's Club, Inc.*, 111 Nev. 830, 833, 897 P.2d 1093, 1094-95 (1995). NRCP 56(c)'s plain language "mandates the entry of summary judgment, after adequate time for discovery and upon motion, against a party who fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial." *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986) (adopted by *Wood*, 121 Nev. at 731, 121 P.3d at 1031).

///

///

///

# II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT RULED THAT BNYM'S DEED OF TRUST WAS EXTINGUISHED BY OPERATION OF NRS 106.240.

#### A. Statutory Background of NRS 106.240.

NRS 106.240 - a one-sentence provision enacted in 1917 and revised slightly only once since then, in 1965 - is Nevada's "ancient-lien" statute. "The obvious purpose and effect of [such] statute[s] is to clear titles of old and obsolete mortgages, without the need of obtaining a discharge." *In re 201 Forest St., LLC*, 422 B.R. 888, 892 (B.A.P. 1st Cir. 2010). Practically speaking, they "enable a person to rely on the record in determining marketability of real property burdened by an ancient mortgage or deed of trust of record" through "automatic clearing of ancient mortgages and deeds of trust from the record after lapse of the statutory period without the necessity of judicial action to quiet title or remove a cloud." *See* Study H-401 - Marketable Title (Ancient Mortgages and Deeds of Trust), CA Mem. 81-32, at 3 (June 10, 1981), http://www.clrc.ca.gov/pub/1981/ M81-32.pdf ("CA Mem. 81-32").

NRS 106.240 provides that liens created by deeds of trust "appearing of record, and not otherwise satisfied and discharged of record," will terminate at the expiration of ten years after the debt becomes "wholly due" under "the terms [of the deed of trust]" or "any recorded written extension thereof." The statute does not otherwise define "wholly due."

# B. NRS 106.240 Does Not Allow a Notice of Default to Make a Loan Secured by a Deed of Trust "Wholly Due."

Neither the Nevada Legislature nor the Nevada Supreme Court has defined the term "wholly due," as used in NRS 106.240. However, the only plausible reading of "wholly due" is the maturity date stated in a deed of trust, or, if applicable, a recorded written extension of that date. Such a reading would comport with the text of N.R.S. 106.240, the structure of Chapter 106, the statutory history, and the overall purpose of ancient-lien statutes.

NRS 106.240 - enacted over 100 years ago and last amended in 1965 - provides that a deed of trust "appearing of record, and not otherwise satisfied and discharged of record," terminates "ten years after the debt secured by ... the deed of trust become[s] wholly due" under "the terms thereof or any recorded written extension thereof." NRS 106.240. The text of the statute makes clear that only two types of written instruments are relevant in determining when the obligation a lien secures becomes "wholly due" for purposes of NRS 106.240 - (1) the "deed of trust" itself, and (2) "any recorded extension thereof." NRS 106.240. Had the Nevada legislature intended notices of default or acceleration to trigger NRS 106.240, it could have made that intention explicit in the statute as the legislature is obviously aware of notices of default given its comprehensive regulation of their form and content. *See*, NRS 107.080 (requiring a trustee to record a notice of default prior to

initiating power of sale); *See also*, NRS 107.087 (providing requirements for content, recording, and posting of notices of default).

The statutory history of NRS 106.240 and the Nevada provisions governing notices of default confirm the point. Nevada's legislature enacted the precursor to NRS 106.240 in 1917 - a time when Nevada had not yet enacted any statute mandating or addressing the recording of notices of default. *See*, Nevada Laws 1917, c. 37 § 2. Simply put, the Legislature could not have intended notices of default to trigger the ancient lien statute when it was first enacted, as notices of default did not even exist under Nevada law at the time. Nevada enacted its first statute addressing notices of default ten years later, in 1927. Nevada Laws 1927, c. 173, § 1.

Had the Legislature at that time intended notices of default to be treated as documents that could trigger the ancient-lien statute, it could easily have said so, but it did not. Nor did it do so in 1949, 1957, 1959, or 1961 when it amended the statutory provisions governing notices of default, or enacted new ones. *See*, Nevada Laws 1949, at 70, c. § 1; 1957 Statutes of Nevada, at 631, c. 356 § 1; 1959 Statutes of Nevada, at 10, c. 11 § 1; 1961 Statutes of Nevada, at 23-24, c. 23 § 1; id. at 74-75, c. 67 § 1.

Moreover, in 1965, when the Legislature amended NRS 106.240 to include more documents as potential triggers – deeds of trust in addition to mortgages, and

recorded extensions in addition to both – if it had intended to add notices of default, or recorded notices of acceleration, to the list it would surely have done so.

Importantly, although Nevada made sweeping changes to the laws governing foreclosures following the 2008 housing crisis – particularly with regard to the type and form of notice required to be given to borrowers – NRS 106.240 remained untouched, in much the same form in which it has existed since 1917. This history refutes any contention that the Nevada Legislature intended silent permission to allow notices of default – a statutory creation – to trigger the ten-year period under NRS 106.240, a statute that for more than a century has conspicuously omitted any mention of them.

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