Case No. 81604

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, F/K/A THE BANK OF NEW YORK, AS TRUSTEE, FOR THE CERTIFICATEHOLDERS OF CWABS, INC. ASSET-BACKED CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2006-25,

Appellant,

VS.

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Apr 21 2021 09:23 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable DAVID JONES, District Judge District Court Case No. A-19-790150-C

Respondent's Answering Brief

JACQUELINE A. GILBERT, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 10593 E-mail: jackie@kgelegal.com KAREN L. HANKS, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 9578 E-mail: karen@kgelegal.com

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

⁵⁰ 1AA 0022.

in full and did in fact accelerate the debt.⁵¹ This is why the NOD #1 states the beneficiary "<u>has declared</u> and does hereby declare all sums secured thereby immediately due and payable."—*i.e.*, *already* fully accelerated in compliance with all applicable law and the deed of trust.⁵² To accept the Bank's argument, is to accept the Bank knowingly made a false statement in a recorded document. This recitation of a <u>prior fully-consummated</u> acceleration is conclusively presumed to be true, and is unrebuttable.⁵³

Similarly, the Bank's argument that even *after* the notice of default was issued, "the borrower retained the right to bring the loan current by making a partial payment.... In this case, that right has not yet expired," is likewise demonstrably false.⁵⁴ As noted above, NOD #1 states all the conditions required for acceleration had <u>already</u> been fulfilled by the time the NOD #1 was prepared and recorded.⁵⁵ The absurdity of the Bank's argument is further highlighted by the language in NOD #1 that the agent for the beneficiary "has elected and does hereby elect to cause the trust property to be sold to satisfy the obligations secured thereby."⁵⁶ Those

⁵⁶ Id.

⁵¹ 1AA_0024 (Sec. 22).

⁵² 2AA 0253.

⁵³ See NRS 47.240(2) (conclusive presumption of facts recited).

⁵⁴ AOB at 19.

⁵⁵ 2AA_0253

"obligations" are the full amount of the "obligations" secured by the deed of trust mentioned in the same sentence, *i.e.*, the entire amount due under the deed of trust.⁵⁷ Otherwise, again, the Bank is taking the absurd position that it is only foreclosing on missed installments, which the Bank has never asserted, and contradicts the plain language of NOD #1 itself.

Finally, the language from NOD #1 stating that "in addition, the entire principal amount will become due as a result of the maturity of the obligation on the maturity date" does not change the fact the Bank made the loan wholly due. The quoted language simply supplements the statement of the breach. It has nothing to do with acceleration noted in the subsequent paragraph. It merely states that in addition to the borrower being liable for the past due installments that created the breach, the borrower is also liable for the full amount the deed of trust secures at the maturity date.⁵⁸ This has no effect on, and has nothing to do with the clear and plain language of acceleration in the subsequent paragraph stating the Bank "has declared and does hereby declare" all sums due under the deed of trust. But the Bank's argument highlights the absurdity of its position; *that it cannot accelerate the debt and foreclose on the entire debt*.

⁵⁷ Id.

⁵⁸ 2AA 0252.

III. <u>THE BANK'S ARGUMENTS CONCERNING THE UNEXECUTED, NON-</u> PERFORMED LOAN MODIFICATION AGREEMENTS FAIL.

The Bank claims that two loan modification agreements defeat the operation of NRS 106.240.⁵⁹ The argument was correctly rejected by the district court.

First, the Bank failed to offer any valid loan modification agreements that show the accelerated loan was decelerated. The district court correctly found the August 23, 2008 document was never signed by Countrywide.⁶⁰ Likewise, the Bank never produced *any* version of the purported March 2009 modification signed by Countrywide, and nowhere asserts that it did. At best, an unsigned agreement shows "nothing more than that the parties considered modifying the contract,"⁶¹ and there is no evidence in any modification in the record that shows *an <u>unconditional promise</u> by the Bank that the loan would in fact be modified.*⁶²

Worse still, at the November 17, 2020 motions hearing, counsel for the Bank made stunning admissions and obfuscations. First, he admitted "there were two separate efforts at loan modification **that did not go through**," but alternatively and

⁵⁹ AOB at 20-22.

⁶⁰ 2AA_401:24-25, 377 (unsigned purported modification agreement).

⁶¹ United States v. Rollinson, 629 F. Supp. 581, 586 (D.D.C. 1986), aff'd, 866 F.2d 1463 (D.C. Cir. 1989).

⁶² See, e.g., Ellis v. Chase Home Fin., LLC, No. 14-11186, 2014 WL 7184457, at *7 (E.D. Mich. Dec. 16, 2014) (finding purported modification invalid based on lack of signature from the bank and its lack of any unconditional promise in the agreement that the loan would in fact be modified.)

contradictory refers to these same purported modifications as "final" or "finalized."⁶³ He even referred to the August 2008 purported modification as "final" and misrepresented to the Court that it was "a signed contract between two parties, between my client and the borrowers,"⁶⁴ knowing full well that the purported agreement he placed in the record prior to the hearing was NEVER signed by Countrywide, and he never produced any purported modification whatsoever signed by Countrywide before or since.⁶⁵ Bank's counsel even referred to the August 2008 purported modification as "fully executed" in briefing, while knowing that it was never signed by Countrywide.⁶⁶ It appears that these misrepresentations had an effect on the district court's factual findings and ruling.

Second, the Bank never produced a single document showing an actual payment of a single purported installment under either alleged modification agreement, or that either alleged agreement was ever consummated via consideration of any kind. There is certainly no evidence of any consideration in the form of payments such that an enforceable contract for modification ever existed between

⁶³ See RA 0020:7-12(emphasis added), 20:19-20.

⁶⁴ RA_20:19-21:10 ("This particular loan modification that I attached that went through on August 25th, 2008 was a finalized loan modification. *** It's a signed contract between two parties, between my client and the borrowers. *** It's an effective, valid contract.")

⁶⁵ 2AA_0377.

⁶⁶ 2AA_0359:13-16, 294.

the borrowers and Countrywide.⁶⁷ The unsigned purported August 2008 modification states the monthly payment would be changed to \$1,825.48 if the agreement was consummated, and it appears the first scheduled payment date was September 1, 2008.⁶⁸ Yet the Bank never produced any document showing that an installment payment in that amount was ever made by the borrowers after the purported August 2008 modification. Similarly, the Bank never produced any evidence in the record of what the new installment amount under the purported March 2009 modification was, and never produced any document showing the payment of any such installment in the alleged new amount.

In short, the Bank did not and does not point to any payment history or any actual payment or payment amounts that show the borrowers made any payments after August 2008 toward *any* purported modification agreement, and have not produced any purported modification agreement signed by Countrywide.

Third, while the two purported modification agreements—neither of which were signed by Countrywide or any predecessor of the Bank—have never been

⁶⁷ Cain v. Price, 134 Nev. 193, 195, 415 P.3d 25, 28 (2018) (to be legally enforceable, a contract must be supported by consideration); see also Dolge v. Masek, 70 Nev. 314, 268 P.2d 919 (1954) (even if unsigned writing might have reflected the oral understanding of the parties, the agreement was not enforceable since the parties clearly contemplated consummation of a written agreement since real property interests could not be released otherwise).

⁶⁸ 2AA_0376.

proven to be legally valid or anything more than mere proposals, the fact that the Bank proffered a purported modification agreement from March 2009, mere months after the August 2008 purported agreement, demonstrates at the very least that the August 2008 agreement was never effective.

Fourth, the Bank's argument that the date installments allegedly became due as made in NOD #1 vs. NOD #2 somehow shows deceleration is meritless.⁶⁹ As SFR noted in briefing below, and the Bank did not dispute, the purported March 2009 agreement—of which the Bank never produced a copy signed by both parties—states the first installment would have been due May 1, 2009. But the borrowers obviously never performed as evidenced by the subsequent NOD #2 recorded on January 6, 2019 which indicates a default date of May 1, 2009.⁷⁰ This shows no payments were made whatsoever.

And even more to the point, NOD #2 clearly demonstrates that neither of the purported prior loan modifications took effect and that no payments were made under them, and in fact no payments were made by the borrowers since the April 29, 2008 NOD #1. If the March 2009 purported modification agreement uses the same language as the August 2008 agreement, *i.e.*, that the agreement "**amends and**

⁶⁹ AOB at 20-21.

⁷⁰ 2AA_0395:15-18; 2AA_0269.

supplements" the November 17, 2006 deed of trust,⁷¹ then NOD #2 would have referred to the deed of trust as amended and/or supplemented by one or both of the purported prior modification agreements of August 2008 or March 2009. But NOD #2 has no such language, and instead simply refers to the original November 17, 2006 deed of trust with no mention whatsoever of any modifications, amendments, or supplements to it.⁷²

As the Bank itself noted in briefing below, "the January 16, 2019 Notice of Default ... also states that **the current amount in default <u>includes</u>** '[t]he monthly installment which became due on 5/1/2009...."⁷³ Because the loan was in fact accelerated by the time of NOD #1, it is simply a fact that the full past due amount at the time of NOD #2 *includes* a May 1, 2009 installment, and indeed all other installments that were due and unpaid under the deed of trust.⁷⁴ The reference to the May 1, 2009 installment is not evidence of deceleration.

This Court should affirm the District Court's rejection of these unsigned, nonperformed modification agreements. At worst, an issue of fact exists.

⁷¹ 2AA_0376.

⁷² 2AA_0385.

⁷³ 2AA_0370:20-23.

⁷⁴ The note makes payments due on the first of each month. 2AA_0365.

IV. <u>THE ASSOCIATION SALE IS NOT AT ISSUE IN THIS CASE.</u>

A. The Bank has Zero Claims in this Matter.

The Bank has no claims in this action, let alone any claims related to the Association sale. Nor could it under the principles of *res judicata*, as discussed more fully below. But without any cogent argument as to its non-existent claim, the Bank asks this Court in its conclusion to grant judgment in favor of the Bank and find the deed of trust "remains a valid and enforceable lien on title."⁷⁵ This the Court cannot do.⁷⁶ The Bank goes one step farther and even asks this Court to "find SFR purchased – at most a subpriority interest at the sale due to the valid pre-sale tender of the superpriority lien amount."⁷⁷ This the Court most definitely cannot do. From a pure procedural perspective, it is axiomatic before a court can grant a party affirmative declaratory relief like that requested by the Bank in its conclusion, there must be a substantive claim to which that relief can be linked.

A "cause of action" has been defined as the "fact or facts which establish or give rise to a right of action, the existence of which affords a party a right to judicial

⁷⁵ AOB at 22.

⁷⁶ Irrespective of the missing claim, the Court cannot even do this even if it overturns the district court's ruling as to NRS 106.240 because SFR had a second claim related to the Bank's lack of authority to foreclose which was separate and distinct from the 106.240 issue. Thus, at the very least, this Court should remand for further proceedings as to that claim.

⁷⁷ AOB at 22.

relief." See Meech v. Hillhaven West Inc., 776 P.2d 488, 497 (Mont. 1989) (quoting State v. Preston, 181 N.E.2d 31, 36 (Ohio 1962)) (A "cause of action" has been defined as the "fact or facts which establish or give rise to a right of action, the existence of which affords a party a right to judicial relief."). See also, Velazquez v. Mortg. Elec. Registration Sys., 2011 WL 1599595, at *3 (D. Nev. Apr. 27, 2011) (holding that a request for one particular remedy such as "declaratory relief is not a separate substantive claim for relief"). But there is no claim before this Court that raises a challenge to the Association foreclosure sale, either from the Bank or from SFR. Thus, from a pure procedural standpoint the Bank's requested relief, unsupported by any cogent argument, to the extent it seeks a declaration the deed of trust was not extinguished by the Association foreclosure sale, is improper as there is no claim to tie such relief to. But even more than that, any attempt by the Bank to insert this issue into this case is barred by *res judicata*.

B. <u>Under the Doctrine of *res judicata* the Bank is Precluded from</u> <u>Challenging the Association Foreclosure Sale.</u>

Again, without any cogent argument, and without any claim, the Bank asks this Court to adjudicate the validity of the Association sale or remand for further proceedings on this non-existent claim.⁷⁸ But the Bank already brought its quiet title

⁷⁸ The Bank also attempted to resurrect is prior failed quiet title action from the USDC Case in its summary judgment motion below. Like here, SFR argued below that the Bank had no claims, and that it was both procedurally and substantively

claim challenging the Association foreclosure sale in the USDC Case. Said action was dismissed as barred by the statute of limitations, and under principles of *res judicata*, the Bank is barred from raising any claims or issues related to the Association sale below or here.

The Bank attempted the same chicanery below in its summary judgment motion, but like here, SFR argued the Bank had no claims, and that it was both procedurally and substantively improper for the district court to consider anything to do with the Association sale.⁷⁹ The district court never reached the issue, instead granting relief to SFR based on NRS 106.240. This Court should do the same, or at a minimum find *res judicata* prohibits any attempt by the Bank to resurrect its already adjudicated quiet title claim as to the Association sale.

C. <u>Under Issue Preclusion, the Bank Cannot Raise any Issues Regarding</u> <u>the Validity of the Association Sale in This Case.</u>

There are two different species of *res judicata*: issue preclusion and claim preclusion. Issue preclusion, also known as collateral estoppel, is implicated when

improper for the district court to consider anything to do with the Association sale. attempt to resurrect its dead DOT and get a second bite at the apple of its failed attempt to usurp SFR's title and ownership of the Property and challenge the Association sale was barred by res judicata. (2AA_396:16-398:11, 296:8-14, 296:23-27; 300:9-23, 300:24-302:28, 347:12-17, 351:5-353:8. The district court never reached the issue, instead granting relief to SFR based on NRS 106.240.

⁷⁹ 2AA_396:16-398:11, 296:8-14, 296:23-27; 300:9-23, 300:24-302:28, 347:12-17, 351:5-353:8.

one or more of the parties to the earlier suit are involved in a subsequent suit on a different claim. *See University of Nevada v. Tarkanian*, 110 Nev. 581, 599, 879 P.2d

1180, 1191-92 (1994). Under issue preclusion, the following four-party test applies:

"(1) the issue decided in the prior litigation must be identical to the issue presented in the current action; (2) the initial ruling must have been on the merits and have become final; ... (3) the party against whom the judgment is asserted must have been a party or in privity with a party to the prior litigation"; and (4) the issue was actually and necessarily litigated.

Five Star Capital Corp. v. Ruby, 124 Nev. 1048, 1055, 194 P.3d 709, 713 (2008).

First, there is no doubt, in the USDC Case the Bank asked the Court to adjudicate the validity of the sale, and as the basis for challenging the sale, the Bank raised the issue of tender. In this case, the Bank seeks to do the same thing, albeit having never pled a claim, and never making a cogent argument. Again, the Bank only attempts to inject the issue of the Association sale into this case; it is not an issue SFR included as part of any of its claims.

Second, the ruling in the prior federal action was on the merits. The federal court dismissed the Bank's claims as time-barred.⁸⁰ While the underlying merits of the substantive claim have not been adjudicated, the running of the statute of limitations precludes testing whether the claim would otherwise have been valid, and thus for *res judicata* purposes a dismissal on statute of limitations is treated as a

⁸⁰ 1AA_0075-77.

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